
 
 

NORWOOD YOUNG AMERICA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
Wednesday, June 8, 2016 

6:30 p.m. 
Oak Grove City Center – Large Conference Room 

310 Elm Street West 
Norwood Young America, MN 

 
I.   Call to Order  
 
II.   Consideration of the Agenda 
 
III.   Approval of Minutes  

A. May 11, 2016 Regular Session 
 
IV.   Unfinished Business 

A. Interviews for Marketing & Branding 
a. 6:45 p.m.‐7:15 p.m. 
b. 7:30 p.m.‐8:00 pm. 

B. Shovel Ready Sites 
C. 2016 Goals & Implementation Report 

 
V.  New Business 

A. Community Growth Partner Initiatives Grant Program, Carver Co. CDA 
B. Second Quarter Newsletter 
C. Carver County Commercial Broker Event 

 
VI.   Project Updates 
    
VII.   Miscellaneous Communications 
 
VIII.   Upcoming Meetings  

A. Wednesday, July 13, 2016 
 
IX.   Adjournment 

1



 
NORWOOD YOUNG AMERICA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 

 
Minutes from the Meeting on Wednesday, May 11, 2016 at 6:30 p.m. 

Oak Grove City Center – Large Conference Room 
310 Elm Street West 

Norwood Young America, MN 
 
I.  Call to Order  
 
Vice Chair Schmidt called the meeting to order at 6:50 p.m.  
 
EDC members in attendance were:  Chris Lund, Bruce Mathwig, Doane Baber, Mike McPadden and Julie 
Schmidt (6:50 p.m.). 
Absent: Charlie Storms, Tina Diedrick, Kyle Strickfaden and Sarah Molnau.  
 
Staff attending were: City Administrator Steve Helget and Economic Development Coordinator Jo Foust. 
 
II.  Consideration of the Agenda  
 

It was the consensus to accept the agenda as presented. 
 

III. Approval of Minutes 
 
A motion was made by McPadden seconded Baber to approve the April 13, 2016 EDC Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
IV.   Unfinished Business 

 
A. Commercial Market Study.  Foust noted she reached out to SpartanNash and extended an 

invitation to have their staff join an EDC meeting.  Commissioners discussed meeting with the local 
manager at Econo Foods or the regional office.  

 
B. Marketing and Branding Proposals.  

Quotes were discussed from two companies for branding and marketing.  The budget was reviewed 
and timeline discussed. Priorities for 2016 were discussed as logo and tag line development, 
website updates and development of a social media strategy. Coordination with the Chamber of 
Commerce was suggested.  
 
Commissioners requested thirty minute interviews be established with the two companies at the 
next EDC meeting, to be held on June 8, 2016.  It was also suggested that references be contacted. 

 
C.  Newsletter and Contact Information.  The newsletter was reviewed.  Updates were suggested 

prior to mailing.  
 

Moved by Lund, seconded by Mathwig to approve the newsletter for distribution to local businesses, 
with changes noted. Motion carried 5-0. 

 
D.  No Interest Loan Program.  A revised copy of the survey and summary were reviewed. 

 

2



 
E. Shovel Ready Sites.  An update was provided on the Shovel Ready Site program.  According to 

staff research, a Phase I Environmental Study was not previously completed.  In order to have the 
site “Shovel Ready Certified”, this should be completed.  The estimated cost for the Phase I is 
$6,000 to have City Engineer complete, with three to four weeks for completion.  The certification 
application cost is $3,250.  Commissioner Mathwig inquired if the city completes the Phase I 
Environmental Study if this be assigned to a bank requiring it for financing. The ability to 
recuperate the cost of the Phase I when lots are sold was also discussed.   
 
Foust reported that communities that were contacted that participate in the program had positive 
comments as it helped them become prepared and helped expedite sales.  
 
Commissioners requested staff verify the cost “per site” includes the full industrial park versus each 
lot.   The EDC also requested Helget check to see if the cost for the Phase I Environmental Study 
could be paid for from city funds versus EDC funds.  No action was taken as it was suggested this 
item be brought back and considered along with other expenditures and projects planned for 2016, 
such as the branding and marketing. 
 
 

F. 2016 Goals.  The goals established for 2016 and implementation steps completed to date were 
reviewed. 
 
Relating to marketing, it was noted a ribbon cutting will be held on Monday, May 16th at Storms 
Welding, 300 Industrial Boulevard.   A ground breaking will occur at Vickerman’s at 1:30 p.m. on 
May 16, 2016.  
 
It was suggested a list of businesses to target market to be identified based on the market study and 
consumer survey and sites be identified for those businesses.  It was also suggested the EDC 
capitalize on niche businesses such as organic foods and farmers markets, occasional stores, etc.   
 
In regards to Business Retention and expansion, the National Small Business Week Breakfast 
Seminar, “The Power of Marketing”, held May 4, 2016 was discussed. Commissioners felt it was 
well received.  It was suggested the speaker from Kwik Trip be contacted for the 2017 National 
Small Business Week event to discuss customer service.  
 
It was suggested future events also include information on topics local businesses indicated they 
would like assistance with, as noted on the business survey. 
 

V.   New Business 
  
 The EDC budget was included for Commissioners’ information. 

 
VI.  Project Updates –EDC members were provided updates on business projects including Storms 

Welding, Vickerman Companies, and the Bowling Alley.  It was also reported that there is a 
purchase agreement on former Hydro Engineering site for boat storage. 

 
VII.  Miscellaneous Communications  
 
 It was noted a “mystery bus tour” will be at The Quilting Grounds on Friday, May 13th. 
  
VIII.  Upcoming Meetings  

3



 
The next regular EDC meeting will be June 8, 2016 at 6:30 p.m. 

 
 
IX.  Adjourn  
 
A motion was made by Lund, seconded by Mathwig to adjourn the meeting at  8:08 p.m. Motion carried 
5-0. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Jo Foust, Economic Development Consultant 
MDG, LLC. 
 

 

4



 

 
 
 
DATE:  May 31, 2016 
 
MEMO TO: NYA Economic Development Commission  
 
FROM: Jo Foust, Economic Development Consultant 
 
RE: Agenda item IV. A. Marketing & Branding  
 
*************************************************************************************************** 
Background: 
The EDC will be conducting interviews with two firms regarding assistance with Branding and 
Marketing. 
 
6:45 p.m.   Sherwin Schwartzrock and/or Paul Gardner of FloraFauna. The company has 
noted the full project would be around $20,000 with the following cost estimates: 
Discovery: $3k (your RFP didn’t ask for this phase, but it would be essential to doing the 

following work properly) 
Logo Design: $5k 
Tag Lines: $3k-$5k 
Messaging: $5k 
Brand Strategies (in this context, this doesn’t make sense to me. Do you mean a visual identity 

system? If so, I would include this in the style guide) 
Style Guide: $4k-$5k 
 
7:30 p.m. Jessica Klaustermeier, OrangeBall Creative has submitted the attached proposal. 

An a la carte option of marketing items has been provided to allow the EDC to select from.  
To summarize: 

Phase 1: Internal Discovery • Overall Strategy/Brand Voice Development - $2,970  
Phase 2: Brand Development  

• Logo Design - $2,160  
• Tagline Development - $1,680  
• Style Guide Development - $1,145  

Phase 3: Additional Deliverables 
 Brand Stationary/Collateral - $1080 
 Print Piece Development (1) - $1,350 
 Website Landing Page - $1,755 
 Billboard (2) - $810 
 Social Media Strategy - $1,620 
 

TOTAL Phase 1 + Phase 2 (Requested items within RFP): $7,955  
TOTAL Phase 1 + Phase 2 + Phase 3 (Includes Requested Items + Additional Deliverables): 
$14,570  
 

5



 

 
Action: 
The EDC is asked to conduct interviews with the firms and, if prepared, develop a 
recommendation for the City Council’s consideration. 
 
 
 
 

6



 

 
 
 
DATE:  May 31, 2016 
 
MEMO TO: NYA Economic Development Commission  
 
FROM: Jo Foust, Economic Development Consultant 
 
RE: Agenda item IV. B. Shovel Ready Sites 
 
*************************************************************************************************** 
Background: 
The EDC has been discussing the MN Department of Employment and Economic Development’s 
Shovel Ready Site Program as a method of marketing the City’s industrial lots in Tacoma West 
Industrial Park. The property is currently listed through the MnCAR on-line marketing site and is 
listed on the City’s web site.  Information on the available lots has been emailed to various MnCAR 
realtors seeking sites for clients.   
 
The Shovel Ready “certification process” deems lots ready for development without the need for 
platting, re-zoning, infrastructure improvements, etc.  DEED includes these sites on their web site 
as well as trade shows.  There is an application process (accepted April and August annually) 
and a fee of $3250.   
 
At the May meeting the EDC reviewed references from other communities, which were pleased 
with the program.  The EDC requested verification that the $3,250 fee is for all lots in the Industrial 
Park versus each lot.   It has been confirmed that the fee is for all contiguous lots within an 
industrial park (the local road does not make the lots non-contiguous).   
 
The EDC also inquired about the source of funding for the $6000 estimated cost to complete a 
Phase I Environmental Study.  DEED has indicated that if the site has a historical use as 
agricultural tillable land, they can waive the Phase I Environmental requirement. A letter would be 
required from the City Engineer.   
 
DEED indicated the Florida based firm which completes the analysis, is expecting to be in 
Minnesota in the second week of June, if the City is interested in pursuing the program.  They will 
be back in to tour sites the end of the summer or early fall. 
 
Action: 
The EDC is asked to provide input on the Shovel Ready Sites Program for the lots in Tacoma 
West Industrial Park.  If additional information is desired, please advise. 
 
 
 
 

7



2016 Norwood Young America EDC Goals & Implementation Steps 

1. Marketing 

a. Identity: Establish an identity to market the community 

around 

b. Logo/Slogan: Update the City/EDC Logo and Slogan/tag line 

c. Website: update available sites and other relevant info.  Include photos 

d. Billboards:  review cost and content to determine required updates 

e. Marketing Sub‐committee:  Establish a subcommittee of the EDC to prepare 

recommendations 

f. Contact commercial/industrial land and building owners to verify status of available 

sites. 

g. List available sites on DEED’s Location One, MnCAR’s listings and the EDC website 

h. Conduct ground breakings and ribbon cuttings, as applicable, for new businesses and/or 

expansions. 

i. Target market to businesses identified in the Commercial Market Study as feasible in the 

community. 

j. Begin planning for the 20 year anniversary of the NYA merger, to be celebrated in 2017. 

k. Produce  videos to promote residential and business growth  

l. Work with the newspaper to develop Business Spotlights or newspaper articles 

highlighting local business successes or unique facts 

m. Develop a quarterly EDC Newsletter to be sent to businesses including the EDC meeting 

schedule, information on financing, Open to Business, Annual Report, etc.,  

n. Utilize Social Media including Facebook, Twitter, etc.  

Steps taken to implement this goal: 

 Commercial market study suggested several themes for the identity including a 

German theme. 

 An RFP was sent to several marketing firms with two firms to be interviewed June 8th. 

 Available sites are on the EDC web site and listed with MnCAR and LocationOne. 

 Business articles have been coordinated with the newspaper including Quilting 

Grounds, Dollar General, Storms Welding & Manufacturing and Vickerman Companies. 

 Two Quarterly Newsletters have been prepared. 

 The EDC will discuss, in June, participation in the Carver County Commercial Real 

Estate broker event, to be held in  September, 2016. 

 

2. Business Retention and Expansion ‐ General 

a. Continue tours of and/or meetings with existing businesses 

b. Promote the EDC loan program and business resources available through Carver Co. 

Open for Business 

c. Support the Chamber of Commerce and its events such as Small Business Saturday, 

Shop Local Campaign, etc. 

Steps taken to implement this goal: 

 EDC members visited with Quilting Grounds and Dollar General and conducted ribbon 

cuttings in February.  This was coordinated with the Chamber of Commerce. 

8



 A ground breaking was held at Vickerman Companies in May to help them celebrate 

their 28,800 square foot addition. 

 A Ribbon Cutting was held at Storms Welding & Manufacturing in May, to welcome them 

to the community. 

 The Open to Business Program information has been shared with business leads. A current 

prospect noted they had utilized the services. 

 The EDC and Chamber hosted a Breakfast Seminar on “The Power of Marketing” was held 

on May 4, 2016.  The event was attended by approximately 15 business people. 

 A Commercial Market Study was completed by KWA.  The EDC is starting to identify the 

implementation steps and has requested a meeting with a key anchor in the commercial 

district. 

 

3. Industrial Development 

a. Participate in the MnCAR Expo in October to promote the City and Tacoma West 

Industrial Park. 

b. Respond to MnCAR industrial prospects/realtors and market the Tacoma West Industrial 

Park lots 

c. Continue relationships with Carver County CDA, MCCD, Positively Minnesota (DEED), 

Southwest Initiative Foundation, etc.  

d. Host a “Manufacturers Week” event in October. 

e. Remain in contact with local industries and assist with expansions, as applicable. 

 Information has been emailed to 12 MnCAR Realtors who have requested information on 

sites for their clients, as of May 31, 2016. 

 The EDC is investigating the benefit of pursuing Shovel Ready Site Certification for Tacoma 

West Industrial Park. 

 Vickerman has started a 28,000 square foot addition. 

 The building at 300 Industrial Boulevard is being purchased by Storms Welding and 

Manufacturing. 

 Information on Tacoma West Industrial Park was provided to a business prospect in May. 

 

4. Commercial (Re) Development 

a. Investigate a “No Interest Loan” program to assist with façade improvements to 

Downtown buildings. 

b. Review permitted and conditional uses in the commercial districts and provide input to 

the Planning Commission regarding any recommended modifications. 

c. Promote the available commercial spaces for lease and/or sale 

Steps taken to implement this goal: 

 A No Interest Loan Program has been discussed at the February, April and May 

EDC meetings with draft guidelines and a business survey. 

 The Planning Commission has been working on zoning ordinance amendments to 

address the Young America Corp. building’s reuse. 

 Information on available commercial sites has been distributed to business leads.  

Two businesses are in the process of negotiating purchase agreements. 

 

9



5. General 

a. Explore relevant economic development grant opportunities such as  DEED’s Small Cities 

Development Program,  DEED’s – Minnesota Investment Fund (requires business 

prospect co‐applicant) and  DEED’s – Customized Training Program 

b. Coordinate and facilitate at least one joint meeting between the NYA City Council. EDC, 

Planning Commission and the NYA Chamber of Commerce. 

Steps taken to implement this goal: 

 The EDC has received information from Carver Co. CDA regarding their grant 

program for cities. 

 A joint meeting of the City Council, EDC, Planning Commission and Chamber was 

held on March 22, 2016. 

 Several EDC representatives attended a workshop on PACE funding to assist with 

building energy efficiency improvements. 

 Several EDC members, and staff, have attended Chamber of Commerce meetings. 

 The EDC and Chamber jointly sponsored the National Small Business Breakfast 

Workshop. 

 

 

10



 

 
 
 
DATE:  May 31, 2016 
 
MEMO TO: NYA Economic Development Commission  
 
FROM: Jo Foust, Economic Development Consultant 
 
RE: Agenda item V. A. Carver Co. CDA Grant Opportunity  
 
*************************************************************************************************** 
Background: 
The Carver County CDA has released a Request for Proposals for their Community Growth 

Partnership Initiative.  This is a grant program available to cities within Carver County.   There 
are three primary areas of funding: 
 Affordable housing – to promote the development of affordable workforce and supportive 

housing.  Affordable is available rental housing for households at/below 50% of the area 
median income or owner-occupied housing available to 80% of the area median income.   

 Community development – to assist cities in the area of job creation (paying livable 
wages of $14 per hour or more) and community development, creating “Communities for 
a Lifetime”.   

 Redevelopment – to assist cities with redevelopment goals including blighted and under-
utilized areas.  Eligible expenses include but are not limited to: property acquisition, 
relocation of occupants, demolition, and pollution site clean-up, public improvements, 
streetscape in the redevelopment area, soil corrections.    A 2:1 leveraged rate is required. 

 
Amount of Grants –  
o Planning Grants are available, with a maximum $7,500 award.  Planning Grants are 1:1 

match with council approval required.  These include concept development, site design, 
zoning and engineering studies and environmental studies) to be developed as a part of a 
Redevelopment Plan. 

 
o Redevelopment Inventive Grants have a maximum $60,000.  Carver Co. CDA has $400,000 

in their fund.  
 
Grant Application Deadline – Thursday, June 30, 2016 
 
Competitive Ranking:   

1. Leveraged funds: 15 points 
2. Readiness to Proceed: 15 points 
3. Housing Affordability: 20 points 
4. Economic Benefit: 15 points 
5. Environmental Improvements: 15 points 
6. Smart Growth Concepts: 10 points 
7. Removal of Blight: 10 points. 

11



 

 
 

Action: 
If Commissioners have a proposed project for the grant application, a motion would be in order to 
recommend to the City Council a project, identify matching funding sources and authorize the 
preparation of the application and submittal by the June 30, 2016 deadline. 
 
 
 
 

12



 

 
 
 
DATE:  May 31, 2016 
 
MEMO TO: NYA Economic Development Commission  
 
FROM: Jo Foust, Economic Development Consultant 
 
RE: Agenda item V. B. Second Quarter Newsletter  
 
*************************************************************************************************** 
Background: 
Enclosed is a copy of the proposed second quarter newsletter for the EDC.   
 

 
Action: 
If Commissioners have proposed changes or additions, please advise. 
 
 
 
 

13



Storms Welding & Manufacturing 
Welcomed to NYA!

The City and Chamber welcomed Storms Welding 
& Manufacturing to the community with an 
official Ribbon Cutting ceremony.  The Cologne 
based company recently purchased the 19,600 
square foot building at 300 Industrial Boulevard.   
The company is expanding their operations on the 
2.67 acre site.  Storms Welding & Manufacturing 
manufactures dairy barn equipment including 
crowd gates, free stalls, gates and parlors.  They 
also manufacture trailers, truck beds, truck hoists, 
box liners and skid steer attachments.   Pictured to 
the right are Tom Janas, owner, his family and 
employees along with representatives from the 
City, EDC and Chamber.

Ground Breaking Ceremony Held for Vickerman Company
A Ground Breaking ceremony was held in May, 2016 to celebrate a 28,800 square foot addition to Vickerman 
Company’s existing building at 675 Tacoma Boulevard. The EDC and Chamber of Commerce congratulated Randy 
Schuster and Peter Vickerman on their expansion.  As noted on their website: www.vickerman.com, “Vickerman 
Company imports and is a wholesaler of quality seasonal decorations including traditional and realistic artificial 
Christmas trees, wreaths and garlands.”  The EDC and Chamber of Commerce appreciate the continued growth of the 
company and investment in the community.

14



National Small Business Week Celebrated in NYA Contact Us!
2016 Economic Development 

Commissioners 
Kyle Strickfaden, Chair

Julie Schmidt, DC., Vice Chair 
Tina Diedrick, Mayor

Mike McPadden, Council liaison 
Doane Baber

Chris Lund, Chamber liaison 
Bruce Mathwig
Sarah Molnau

Charlie Storms, Planning Commission 
liaison
Staff

Steve Helget, City Administrator
952-467-1805 or 

shelget@cityofnya.com 
 Jo Foust, ED Consultant

952-758-7399 or foustmdg@gmail.com

The Mission of the Norwood Young 
America EDC is to orchestrate 

economic growth through promotion 
and retention of businesses, while 

identifying and attracting businesses 
that contribute to a healthy, vibrant 

community.  

Our Vision is to be the premier, 
comprehensive resource for the 
diverse and dynamic business 

community.  

Mission & Vision

Meetings:  EDC meetings are held the 2nd 
Wednesday of each month at 6:30 p.m. at 

City Hall.

Approximately 20 small business representatives gathered on May 4, 2016 to 
celebrate National Small Business Week.  The NYA Economic Development 
Commission (EDC) and Chamber of Commerce co-sponsored a Breakfast 
Seminar.

Mayor Diedrick thanked Norwood Young America Small Businesses for their 
positive impact on the local economy.  She noted Norwood Young America is 
home to 93 businesses which provide 928 jobs which paid $33.2 million in 
wages in 2015.

Chamber President Chris Lund also acknowledged the contributions of local 
businesses and introduced the featured guest speaker David Ford of 
ActionCOACH, who provided a seminar on the Power of Smart Marketing.  

The EDC, through the Breakfast Seminar and other similar events hopes to 
achieve their vision is to be the premier, comprehensive resource for the 
diverse and dynamic business community.

If there are business topics you are interested in learning more about, please 
contact the EDC at 952-467-1805 or 952-758-7399!

15



 

 
 
 
DATE:  May 31, 2016 
 
MEMO TO: NYA Economic Development Commission  
 
FROM: Jo Foust, Economic Development Consultant 
 
RE: Agenda item V. C. Carver County Commercial Broker Event 
 
*************************************************************************************************** 
Background: 
A meeting was held on May 20, 2016 to discuss a cooperative effort of Carver County 
communities to host a local Commercial Broker event.  Representatives (staff) from the Carver 
Co. CDA, GreaterMPS, SW Chamber of Commerce, Cities of Victoria, Waconia, Mayer, Cologne, 
Norwood Young America and Carver attended.    Megan Livgard of GreaterMSP referenced a 
Commercial Broker event which was coordinated by Anoka County.  She inquired if Carver 
County communities would like to coordinate a similar event. 
 
The group has tentatively scheduled an event for Wednesday, September 7, 2016 from 9 a.m. 
to 11 a.m. at the Chaska Curling Center.  A golf outing would follow the event.  The group is 
working on arranging speakers to allow Real Estate credits to be provided to Realtors who attend.   
 
Cities would be provided an opportunity to have a booth and distribute promotional materials.  The 
EDC has brochures and coasters from last fall’s MnCAR Expo which could be used at the booth.  
The GreaterMSP will provide flash drives. Each community is able to provide information to load 
onto the flash drive. Suggestions included a community video or photos, available sites, 
incentives, etc.  
 
Each community is asked to provide a list of developers, land owners, banks and brokers to invite 
to the event.  Cities are also asked to provide photos that best reflect their community.  The Carver 
Co. CDA is discussing the development of a county wide marketing video which would include a 
high level overview of benefits of commercial/industrial development in Carver County. 
 
Action: 
The EDC is asked to discuss and approve up to $525 for participation in the Carver County 
Commercial Broker event (to cover the $800 room rental, catering of the event, marketing costs, 
etc) to be held September plus expenses associated with providing a booth. 
 
 
 
 

16



Carver County Commercial Broker Event 

 

Date:  Wednesday, September 7, 2016  

Time:  9am – 11am 

Location: Chaska Curling Center, followed by golf at Chaska Town Course  

 

8:30-9:00am  Registration 

9:00 – 9:15am  Welcome – by who????   

9:15 – 9:45AM  Keynote Speaker -  ???? 

9:45-10:15am Virtual Tour Video / Development Opportunities in Carver County 

10:15-10:30am  Networking Break / City Exhibit Exchange 

10:30 – 11:00am Business Resources:  

• Financial Programs? 
• Workforce Initiatives? 
• DEED Financial Programs ? 
• Utility Incentives? 

 

17


	Agenda EDC 06.08
	III. Minutes EDC 05.11
	IV. A. Memo Branding & Marketing Firms
	IV. B. Memo Shovel Ready Sites
	IV. C.  2016 EDC Goals
	V. A. Memo Carver Co. CDA Grant
	V. B. Memo Newsletter 2nd Quarter
	2016-2nd Qtr NYA EDC Newsletter
	V. C. Memo Commercial Broker Event
	V. C. Carver County Commercial Broker Event Work Plan


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




